‘For the moment we do not need to contemplate that Germany’s opponents might begin a war; however, the signs are increasing that they are arming ceaselessly and are making preparations in the most manifold areas in order to attack the Triple Alliance…or preferably even Germany on her own when the time is right, albeit at a time a few years hence. It cannot be said that this year in particular is inviting Germany’s opponents to attack the Triple Alliance. On the contrary, for the moment none of the main participants can really gain anything from bringing about the armed fight.’ Memorandum of the German Army, 18 May 1914.[footnoteRef:1] [1:  18 May 1914, Waldersee’s Memorandum ‘on Germany’s military position’ in Mombauer, Documents, p. 132.] 

By mid-December 1913, a new crisis had emerged in Russo-German relations. On the one hand, the dispute was over the Liman von Sanders military mission to Constantinople, which would establish a German General at the head of the city’s army, a degree of influence Russia said it could not permit. Yet, on the other hand, we might view the Liman von Sanders mission as the latest chapter of Russia’s long history with the Straits. We of course know that the crisis did not devolve into war, as another crisis did six months later, but it is worth considering both the resolution and the short-term consequences of the Sanders’ mission. The impact of this lesser-known incident on the eve of the First World War was far greater than you might expect. But with the crisis at its height in mid-December 1913, it is noteworthy that both Russia and Germany were seeking ways out of the deadlock.
Thus On 21 December, Hans von Wagenheim, the German ambassador in Constantinople, wrote to Berlin that he did not believe in the ‘honourable intentions’ of the Russians, interpreting in Sazonov the same sinister hostility to the Ottoman Empire which animated Russian policy in the past. Still, Wagenheim, supported by Jagow in Berlin, did identify a potential compromise. Could Sanders be promoted, to the position of Inspector General of Turkey’s European Armies? This would remove the emphasis on Constantinople, easing Russian concerns, and enabling Germany to save face since she would not appear to be backing down. The resolution was more a matter of formality than of substance, as you can probably tell, but it was still worth pursuing. ‘We must try our best to offer Russia a sop,’ Wagenheim advised, but ‘If we cannot do that, we can await the rest without excessive anguish. Much then will depend upon the tactful debut of Liman and his men.’[footnoteRef:2]  [2:  Kerner, ‘The Mission of Liman Von Sanders. (III),’ 556.] 

This ‘sop’ did not need to be extensive, but merely a question of technicalities: ‘What Russia asked for,’ Wagenheim added later, ‘was only the semblance of something. The position of the Tsar and of the Russian Government in the face of excited public opinion was too difficult.’[footnoteRef:3] Rather than Constantinople, perhaps it would be better to focus on Berlin – the source of the Mission, in Russia’s view. Yet here as well there seemed little reason for optimism. Bilateral negotiations continued at a snail’s pace – much too slow for Sazonov, who pushed for another Entente effort. This drew the concern of the French, who reiterated Grey’s old concerns at acting too hastily in the absence of a plan. Alexander Izvolsky, Russian ambassador to Paris, summarised the French concerns in a telegram to Sazonov on 30 December, writing: [3:  Ibid, 557.] 

Does Russia not fear that an immediate intervention of the Entente Powers might, in spite of its friendly character, harm the direct exchange of opinion which is at this moment taking place between St. Petersburg and Berlin? The French Government is, nevertheless, prepared even now to consider, in conjunction with the Russian Government, the diplomatic steps, upon which the Entente Powers must ultimately decide, in order to carry their point at Berlin or at Constantinople. In consequence of this, the Minister of Foreign Affairs begs the Russian Ambassador to communicate to him the opinion of the Russian Government, as to the intervention in question, the claims to which the three Powers are to refer, and finally, the decisions which Russia believes she must propose to the French and British Governments, in case their common action at Berlin and at Constantinople should not have found the peaceful solution which they seek.[footnoteRef:4] [4:  Ibid, 558.] 

It is clear that Sazonov continued to force the controversy forward. He was unwilling to take the requested time to formulate a proper Entente policy, or to consider what might happen if an ultimatum was left unanswered. One could imagine the danger if Russia’s bluff was called, particularly when the private consensus in St Petersburg argued for the maintenance of peace. The Russians were not alone in this. When Edward Goschen, the British ambassador in Berlin, spoke with Jagow on the matter in late December 1913, he reported back to Grey on the accommodating mood there, and the professed surprise of German officials at the Russian reaction. Jagow was doing ‘all he could to come to some amicable arrangement, but it was not easy,’ Goschen said, ‘firstly because the Ottoman government seemed rather inclined to make difficulties,’ and ‘secondly because the Russian press and, of course, that of France were writing too much on the subject.’ Goschen recorded the sense of surprise in Berlin since ‘The matter had been first mentioned by the [Kaiser] to the Emperor of Russia, who had made no objections, and had in fact rather encouraged the idea.’ Significantly, the plan ‘had not been mentioned to M. Sazonov,’ and it was only when Russian Premier Kokovstov came to Berlin in mid-November that ‘Russian feelings on the subject were discovered.’ Jagow was nonetheless keen to emphasise Germany’s pacific intentions to the British ambassador:
There had been no bad faith in the matter at all, and the only reason why the Turks had insisted on General Liman being given a slightly superior position than his predecessor was that the latter had, comparatively speaking, failed owing to his not being in a position to enforce the necessary discipline. The proof that General Liman’s position as commander of the 1st Army Corps was nothing very extraordinary lay in the fact that the position had previously been occupied by a Turkish colonel. He himself had been inclined to think that the position was not sufficiently important for an officer of General Liman’s rank. The reason why Constantinople had been chosen was the obvious one that all the military schools were there, and that it was absolutely necessary that the general should have them under his eye.[footnoteRef:5] [5:  27 December 1913, Goschen to Grey in Mombauer, Documents, p. 109.] 

Sazonov would have disagreed vociferously with this assessment. He had by now undergone something of a conversion to the military camp. The conditional and uninspiring nature of Entente support left the Russian Foreign Minister disenchanted and deeply concerned. If Russia could not acquire recognition of her major interests, what use was her allies? It seemed to have by now occurred to Sazonov that the Triple Entente was very far from an alliance, and would have to be converted into one. This he proceeded to do in spring 1914, in proposals for a naval convention with Britain, and repeated efforts to align political interests. In the beginning of the year, however, the Liman von Sanders crisis was in its most acute phase. Sazonov proposed a secret gathering of Russia’s military council to discuss the matter on 13 January 1914. Here, Sazonov revealed how his position had been transformed. He now advocated openly militaristic solutions to difficult questions, and did not sugarcoat his stance to the Tsar. 
The 13 January meeting represented the culmination of several months of angst in Russia. Sazonov was pressured by the Russian press, which fanned the sense of outrage, but there was no shortage of these sentiments among Russian leaders. Kokovstov chaired the meeting, joined by the Minister of War, the chief of staff, the naval minister, and Sazonov. Those present discussed nine theses, most of which focused on the scenario of a German refusal to accept Russia’s requests. In this situation, could Russia coerce the Turks or the Germans? It was suggested that an occupation of a point in Asia Minor, such as Trebizond, would take place until Russian demands were met. Britain and France were to be sounded out, to see how far they would assist the Russians in this venture. Additional levers could be pulled – Constantinople could be blockaded; ambassadors could be withdrawn; an ultimatum could be sent, and a front opened in the Caucasus if required.[footnoteRef:6]  [6:  Robert J. Kerner, ‘The Mission of Liman von Sanders. (IV),’ Slavonic and East European Review, 7, 19 (Jun., 1928), 90-112; 96.] 

Unprecedented attention was given to the possibility of German intervention on Turkey’s side, and in this scenario, British support was key. Kokovstov was adamant that Russia not provoke war with Germany, but the military officials present insisted Russia was ready. Sazonov recognised the importance of getting his Entente partners on side, and he stipulated that if General Sanders was promoted – as rumours suggested – away from Constantinople and to the more acceptable rank of inspector general of Turkish forces, this would be acceptable. In fact, by 31 December Berlin had already decided to do this; the two weeks that followed were spent persuading the Turks to relent. If Liman von Sanders was promoted in this manner, he would have greater control over the more general aspects of the Turkish army, and this could hardly prevent him leveraging his influence in Constantinople. Still, it was an acceptable compromise, and news of this development helped greatly to ease Russo-German tensions.[footnoteRef:7] That little had materially changed where General Sanders was concerned was recognised by the Russian ambassador in Berlin, who noted on 16 January 1914: [7:  Ibid, 97-103.] 

One must, however, not lose sight of the fact that General Liman's relinquishment of the command of the First Army Corps is only a formal concession. The General retains his decisive influence over the military power of Turkey. But this was clear from the beginning; for according to my opinion, we have now to deal with the fact, that…after the failures of the last war, all have recognised the necessity of reorganising the Turkish army, in order to protect Turkey in the future from further conquests and ultimate collapse. If this, however, be the real sentiment of Turkey, then General Liman will naturally succeed, no matter what position he may occupy, in concentrating the entire military power in his hands.[footnoteRef:8] [8:  Ibid, 103-104.] 

The Russian newspapers might rejoice at the diplomatic victory, in other words, but even Russian officials recognised that this was far from a triumph. Germany had technically backed down, though she had lost none of her influence or leverage in the Sultan’s court. In the view of some German officials, Liman von Sanders was now in an even better position to institute the reforms he desired, and to reinforce Turkish defences in the Straits. The legion of German officers, expected to grow from forty to one hundred within the following months, would remain in place.[footnoteRef:9] Still, although privately there remained some issues for Sazonov to work through, to the foreign officials in St Petersburg he was content to state that the Liman von Sanders crisis had effectively passed. By 21 January 1914, the British ambassador Sir George Buchanan was able to write to Grey in London that the crisis ‘seems to be on the high road to a settlement.’ Buchanan appreciated that a bullet had been dodged: [9:  Ibid, 104-105.] 

Sazonov is perfectly satisfied with the arrangement under which von Sanders will become Inspector General of the Turkish Army, while a German officer will act as Chief of the Staff, but I rather doubt whether the Russian public will share this satisfaction. We, however, have every reason to be thankful that Sazonov is so easily satisfied, as otherwise we should have found ourselves in a very awkward position.[footnoteRef:10] [10:  21 January 1914, Buchanan to Grey in Mombauer, Documents, pp. 110-111.] 

This high road to settlement, in fact, led to a more fulsome estimation of Russia’s strategic options behind closed doors. In consideration of the fact that Sanders had not been entirely removed from his position, Sazonov convened a Special Conference of key Russian officials on 21 February. In this gathering, the Straits and the fate of Constantinople in the event of war were the main subjects for discussion. In a fit of great optimism, so it would seem in hindsight, the meeting determined that the Black Sea fleet should be expanded, railways constructed, garrisons reinforced, and the Russian transport fleet greatly increased, all to facilitate the swift capture of Constantinople via naval landings. It was argued that this occupation would cause a European war, in which Russian attentions would be pulled to the western borders with Berlin and Vienna, reducing her freedom of action. Better to plot for the delivery of the Straits into Russia’s hands once her foes were defeated on the battlefield, yet then, what would happen if an opportunistic third power seized the moment – as Bulgaria had done – to march through Thrace and take advantage of Ottoman weakness? It was recommended that a general increase in Russian power in the Black Sea would offset this possibility, but the emphasis was placed on continued rearmaments which would prepare the army and navy for action within a few years.[footnoteRef:11]  [11:  Kerner, ‘The Mission of Liman von Sanders. (IV),’ 104-106.] 

By early April 1914 the Tsar had signed off on these decisions, though the prioritisation of the Straits was criticised by some, who anticipated that the demands of war would undermine such a targeted plan. Considering its somewhat anticlimactic conclusion, how should we view the Liman von Sanders crisis in the context of the pre-war world? Although the standoff did not lead to war, it had profound consequences for both sides. Sazonov had demonstrated that he was no longer willing to accept a Russian retreat on the world stage; contrary to her behaviour during the Bosnian Annexation Crisis and the Balkan Wars, the Tsar’s Ministers were now convinced that any further diplomatic losses would be catastrophic. The Russian Foreign Minister was more willing to risk war, and to follow through on his threats. He was markedly more belligerent by the end of the crisis than he had been before; he was also determined to enhance the existing relationships with Britain and France. The non-committal stance of these powers convinced Sazonov that the Triple Entente must become a Triple Alliance, to rival the opposing bloc. ‘Germany and Austria were allies, while Britain and Russia were only friends,’ he said, in a conversation with the British ambassador. In his effort to rectify this deficiency, Sazonov focused on more tangible agreements, which would increase military cooperation and coordination within the Entente.
The crisis can be said to have a seriously negative impact on Russo-German relations. Not only did the episode reduce trust between the two courts, but the dispute was carried on through the press. Sazonov had previously demonstrated his ability to use Russian newspapers as a conduit for his foreign policy goals; the shrill proclamations of these organs could then be used as proof of the Russian public’s similar goals, and the impossibility of abandoning them. In this case however, the press fury seems to have gotten out of Sazonov’s control, or at least, it did not aid him as he perhaps hoped it would. Notwithstanding the Russian pressure, the Germans remained firm, even as a Russo-German press war poured petrol on already flammable disputes, reducing the possibilities for compromise or even cooperation. The poisoning of relations moved Sazonov to interpret German hostility behind other misfortunes, such as the simultaneous decline in Austro-Russian relations. We will note that in the peak of the July Crisis, the impression reigned in St Petersburg that Vienna was acting on the orders of Berlin, limiting Russian sympathies for the slain Archduke or for Austrian efforts to acquire satisfaction. Sazonov had come to identify the Straits policy as bound up with the Balkans, and perceived a resurgent Balkan League as the key to this goal. Thus, Russian support for Serbia steadily increased after the Second Balkan War; the fall of Belgrade would not merely shatter Pan Slav ambitions, it would also jeopardise Russia’s acquisition of Constantinople, and that could never be tolerated.[footnoteRef:12] [12:  Clark, Sleepwalkers, pp. 347-349.] 

It may be argued that Sazonov was not particularly successful in converting the 1907 Convention with Britain into an alliance, but he was at least freer politically at home. Kokovstov’s dismissal from the premiership in late January 1914 was arguably the most significant change in Russian personnel before the First World War. Kokovstov was replaced by Ivan Goremykin, ‘an old man’ in Sazonov’s view, ‘who had long ago lost not only his capacity for interesting himself in anything but his personal tranquillity and well-being, but also the power of being able to take into account the activities in progress around him.’ But Sazonov need not have complained; Kokovstov’s absence meant that he and his anti-German peers could surge into the power vacuum, tilting Russian policy away from rapprochement with Berlin, and emphasising militant policies as the solution to future threats. After all, Russia’s firm stance had compelled Berlin to back off, even if the compromise of promoting Sanders elsewhere did not resolve the central dispute. Did this not suggest that Europe was ready to listen to Russia’s voice, after discounting her for so long?[footnoteRef:13] [13:  Ibid, p. 346.] 

Unlike his Russian counterparts, the French President had to keep one eye on the French electorate. In a tense parliamentary session on 19 July 1913, Poincare finally managed to get his Three Year Law passed by 358 votes to 204. The act was a reaction to the new army law in Germany, and the most blatant sign yet that the arms race on land between the rival powers was escalating. The French act was also a response to a shortage of recruits, which exacerbated the numerical disadvantage. To compensate, French recruits would now serve three years compulsory military service instead of two, military service would begin at 20 rather than 21, and soldiers would serve for 28 rather than 25 years. This swelled the ranks by more than 200,000 soldiers, but it would take time for this to be fully felt – not until 1916 would the increases be completely visible on paper. The law also did not account for increases in materiel; the French deficiency in heavy artillery and field howitzers was to continue. Finally, as Poincare and others fully appreciated, this was the equivalent of scraping the barrel. There was no space in the population to extent recruitment further. Between 1880-1910, the French population increased only marginally from 37 million to 39 million. Germany’s population in the same period rose from 42 million to 62 million. In other words, the Three Year Law represented France’s last stand in the arms race.[footnoteRef:14]  [14:  Lukas Grawe, ‘Report from Paris. The German Military Attaché in France, Detlof von Winterfeldt, and his views of the French Army, 1909–1914,’ War in History, 26, 4 (November 2019), 470-494; 487-488.] 

Serious doubts were expressed as to the sustainability of the Three Year Law; some believed that war was the only escape from the eventual reduction in arms that economies would force upon France in the near future. Yet the new law represented a striking departure for the French, and the significance of the bill necessitated a lengthy process of public debate, enabling foreign officials to anticipate the outcome in advance. The Belgian ambassador to Paris had kept his eye on the development of this Three Year Law, and a month before it passed he wrote home that ‘It is now certain that the new French legislation will contain provisions which the country is unlikely to be able to bear for long.’ And he continued:
The burdens of the new law will be so heavy for the general population, the expenditure involved will be so huge, that the country will soon protest, and France will then be faced with the alternative of either renouncing the unendurable or very shortly going to war. It will be a heavy responsibility for those who have brought the nation to this pass. They are followed in a sort of stupor, an interesting but deplorable dementia. 
Regarding Poincare’s ability to push the law through, the Belgian ambassador was cynical about the methods the French Premier had used:
The propaganda in favour of the law for three years’ military service, aiming at producing a resurrection of chauvinism, was brilliantly prepared and carried through; it began with the demand for the election of Monsieur Poincare as President of the Republic; it is still going on, regardless of the risks which it is provoking; there is great uneasiness in the country.[footnoteRef:15] [15:  12 June 1913, Guillaume to Belgian Government in Mombauer, Documents, p. 101.] 

If foreign observers expressed doubts as to the sustainability of the program, no greater opposition to the Three Year Law existed than that which came from the French themselves. By mid-1913 Poincare was President of a republic teeming with divisions and apprehensions. Much of his support depended upon a wave of chauvinism, featuring anti-German pronouncements and expressions of support for the army. This chauvinism had not come from nowhere, and was a reaction to the Second Moroccan Crisis. A revanchist spirit, which insisted on the reclamation of the lost provinces of Alsace and Lorraine, infused much of their arguments. In broad terms, Poincare ruled a centre-right and hard right coalition linked by its insistence on pursuing the Three Year Law to its logical conclusions. In response, left wing French statesmen – including Georges Clemenceau – rallied socialist and radical opinion against it. 
By the time of the parliamentary elections of late spring 1914, French politics became absorbed by the Three Year Law debate. Fortunately for Poincare, the tide of French nationalism seemed still to be with him, just about. He won the elections of late April and early May 1914 with a narrow margin, but took some time to construct his cabinet, owing to the range of personalities and political opinions. Demonstrating the disagreements in stark terms, the first government fell within weeks, but after painstaking negotiations, a successor was found. The ex-socialist Rene Viviani was selected as Premier, and his Cabinet won their majority by mid-June 1914. Revealingly, Viviani’s cabinet consisted of seventeen ministers, only ten of whom supported the Three Year Law, but this instrument of French military regeneration was at least safe for now.[footnoteRef:16] L’Aurore, or The Dawn, a liberal French newspaper best known for its contributions during the Dreyfus Affair, reported on what the Three Year Law meant for France, and why it was impossible to go back to the Two Year Law of 1905:  [16:  Clark, Sleepwalkers, p. 311.] 

The Three-Year Law is not a dogma; it is not intangible. But, at the present moment, our general staff, having seen its ideas accepted by Parliament, has naturally organised everything in such a way that it would be impossible to return the law of 1905. Whether we want it or not, this is so… To return to the Two-Year Law, the whole job must be started right from the beginning. To expect that this could be realized by a tap from a magic wand would be playing politics at the expense of national security—a thing which my friends and I would never do.[footnoteRef:17] [17:  Quoted in Eugene Weber, The Nationalist Revival in France, 1905-1914 (Berkeley, 2023), pp. 133-134.] 

If Poincare was distracted by the process of affecting the formation of a government he could work with, the French public were captured by a dramatically different scandal. On 17 March 1914, the editor of La Figaro newspaper was shot and killed in his office. The murderer was a woman, Henriette Caillaux, and happened to be the wife of former French Premier, Joseph Caillaux. By this point, Caillaux was Finance Minister in Viviani’s Cabinet, and represented one of the few advocates of détente with Germany. The ensuing Caillaux affair dominated French newspapers up to the final days of peace. Whispers of further scandal, that Madame Caillaux had been manipulated into killing the journalist because of his hostile tone towards her husband, or because it intended to publish incriminating evidence of unpatriotic contacts with Germany, predictably did the rounds. Caillaux insisted the government contribute to his wife’s defence, and though she was acquitted on 28 July 1914, Caillaux resigned from the government shortly afterwards.
That date is of course significant, because it means that yes, the French public were gripped by this scandal right up to the point that Austria-Hungary declared war on Serbia. It is little surprise that the French people had yet to get a real handle on the unfolding crisis in Vienna, or to consider where that other assassination in Sarajevo – of far less interest to them – might lead. As the scandal affected Poincare, coming on the eve of pivotal elections, both he and Viviani were distracted as well, right at the point when they should have been spending more time watching over Austria. The President and his Premier departed for Russia on 16 July 1914 with the Caillaux trial still foremost in their minds, and by that point, as John Kieger put it, the French government was ‘literally and metaphorically at sea.’ Unlike previous crises, be they in Morocco or the Balkans, the French were uniquely distracted by political events and domestic scandals. To the Central Powers, this distraction could only encourage them onward, yet it took some time for the seriousness of the moment to dawn on Poincare.[footnoteRef:18]  [18:  See Robert Tombs, France 1814 – 1914 (London, 2014), pp. 478-479.] 

Poincare would later make up for lost time, standing fully behind Russia in the height of the July Crisis, but before we accuse contemporaries of naivety for not seeing the storm coming, we must bear in mind that there was no doom of war hanging over them, even at this late stage. The narrative that contemporaries were pulled powerlessly into the cauldron of war might be an attractive idea, but we have by now clarified that this ‘slide’ into war was ordered by men. At any point, differences in perspective or method might have netted a different result. We should note that Sazonov did not force the Liman von Sanders crisis to war, for example, and did satisfy himself with a token concession. Was this not a positive sign, despite the underlying currents? It is nonetheless not difficult to locate eyewitness accounts testifying to the increasingly militant atmosphere. One such witness to this war fever was an individual who would later distinguish himself as a peacemaker – Colonel Edward House, the friend and fixer of US President Woodrow Wilson. In May 1914, House was Wilson’s European envoy, and late in that month he wrote a stark account of his experiences:
The situation is extraordinary. It is militarism run stark made. Unless someone acting for you can bring about a different understanding, there is some day to be an awful cataclysm. No one in Europe can do it. There is too much hatred, too many jealousies. Whenever England consents, France and Russia will close in on Germany and Austria. England does not want Germany wholly crushed, for she would then have to reckon alone with her ancient enemy, Russia; but if Germany insists upon an ever increasing navy, then England will have no choice. The best chance for peace is an understanding between England and Germany in regard to naval armaments and yet there is some disadvantage to us by these two getting too close.[footnoteRef:19] [19:  29 May 1914, Edward House reports from Berlin in Mombauer, Documents, p. 136.] 

Colonel Edward House’s impressions of pre-war Europe may seem like yet another ominous prophecy, but they actually contain a somewhat amusing anecdote. Despite what his title may suggest, House was a Colonel of the political kind; he had been appointed Colonel of the Texan militia in return for political favours there. House, in short, had no combat experience, and could offer few insights on American military affairs. However, when House visited Berlin in May 1914, the Germans took his title literally, and always sat him alongside German generals during dinner. Perhaps because of this misunderstanding, House had an outsized view of the prevalence of militarism within Germany. The Germans may have mistaken House for a Colonel, but they would not make the same mistake again. When House returned to Europe in late 1918, it was as a peacemaker, and the Germans would be the first to knock on his door.[footnoteRef:20]  [20:  See Clark, Sleepwalkers, p. 214.] 

The Germans, it was true, understood their Russian opponent better than the emerging power across the Atlantic. By spring 1914, they had drawn conclusions to the effect that Entente military power was on the rise, but that the Central Powers maintained a marginal superiority. The key to this rise in power from the opposing bloc were army reforms implemented in France, but above all in Russia. Sergei Sazonov, Russian Foreign Minister, had acquired greater influence with the departure of Kokovstov as Premier in January 1914. But if Russian domestic policy was being consolidated in the hands of Sazonov’s and his allies, they had less luck with foreign policy. Sazonov’s wish to convert the Entente into an alliance ultimately failed, a failure obscured by the participation of the Entente in the First World War. The Russian Foreign Minister’s anxiety over Britain’s place in a future war should serve to remind us that the bipolar bloc system was far from set in stone. 
To reinforce its foundations Sazonov continued to press London for an alliance in spring and early summer 1914; the aforementioned naval conventions being the only tangible outcome. For Britain, there seemed little use in codifying an agreement which was expected to function as an alliance in the event of war in any case; it was hardly likely that Russia would remain neutral if an Anglo-German war erupted, so why not maintain these assumptions at minimal cost? Interestingly, this did not mean Britain refrained from all talk of an alliance. If she made a show of dragging her feet in these alliance negotiations, then this could be leveraged against Russian encroachments in disputed theatres such as Persia. There was nonetheless a domestic element for Britain to consider; would an alliance with Tsarist absolutism be popular among the public? Further, was there any use to delineating spheres of influence which an alliance might require? Far better, surely, to maintain a degree of vagueness which would increase mutual flexibility.[footnoteRef:21] [21:  I. V. Bestuzhev, ‘Russian Foreign Policy February-June 1914,’ Journal of Contemporary History, 1, 3, (Jul., 1966), 93-112; 108-109.] 

If Russia managed only marginal diplomatic gains, the Germans were more effective at leveraging their position at Constantinople to acquire important political concessions. Chief among these was the formation of a German-Ottoman alliance on 2 August 1914. In this drive for greater political control over Ottoman policy, it was ambassador Wagenheim, rather than Liman von Sanders, that proved most effective. Sanders’ role was nonetheless vital for the reconstruction of the Turkish officer class and the implementation of better discipline and doctrines. The allied powers only noted this improvement after smashing themselves against the surprisingly effective Ottoman defences during the Gallipoli campaign; it may be argued that this defence and the relatively smooth initial mobilisation of the Ottoman army were the true fruits of Sanders’ mission.[footnoteRef:22] That said, if we interpret the Sanders mission from the outset as a German attempt to incorporate Turkey into the Triple Alliance, then this may be viewed as a success. It was precisely for this reason that Sazonov had acted with such urgency and spoken with such venom; he interpreted in the German mission a declaration of its intent to control the Straits, thereby undercutting Russian influence in the Balkans, and potentially strangling her in the Black Sea.[footnoteRef:23] [22:  Ulrich Trumpener, ‘Liman von Sanders and the German-Ottoman Alliance,’ Journal of Contemporary History, 1, 4 (Oct., 1966), 179-192.]  [23:  Kerner, ‘The Mission of Liman von Sanders. (IV),’ 110-112.] 

The comfortable Russo-German status quo, featuring lavish state visits and vague statements of friendship, was now gone. Gone too was the restraining element of German policy within Vienna, the hesitancy which once distinguished Sazonov’s policy. To meet the German challenge and secure her interests in the Straits, the Balkans became even more pivotal to Russian considerations than before. It would be impossible to accept a further reduction of her influence or options in this sphere, and Ministers like Kokovstov who might have tempered the more aggressive impulses of the government had been removed. At the same time, officials in Berlin and St Petersburg felt that the Sanders incident had been a losing effort; for Germany because it had made concessions, and for Russia because it did not receive sufficient concessions.[footnoteRef:24] Sazonov thus arrived at the July Crisis six months later convinced of the necessity of standing up to the Central Powers, whatever the cost, and determined to deepen existing agreements with her allies. Mistrust, and a willingness to believe the worst about their opponents, may have been understandable takeaways from the crisis, but they boded ill for a situation in which calmer heads were required for preserving the peace.  [24:  McMeekin, Russian Origins, pp. 10-11.] 

Wedded to this increased militarism was the paradoxical belief that war would not come for many years – this was a failure to anticipate how a spark in a sensitive region might ignite the flammable materials; a failure in flexibility which reduced the options for cooperation. This overheated atmosphere may well have passed, but the critical point is that this legacy of hostility had been entrenched just as the peace of Europe was subjected to the ultimate test. As with so many pre-war incidents, the war itself disguised their ultimate significance. It may be argued that the Liman von Sanders crisis was the final spasm of Imperial Russia’s obsession with the Straits – it was the final flare up of the Eastern Question, and in common with earlier flare ups, this one concluded unsatisfactorily, with the central question unanswered. Far from giving up on the quest which had animated Russian policymakers since at least the 1830s, Sazonov determined that only a European war could finally net Russia this sacred goal, and it was not to be avoided particularly if her allies could be brought on side. This willingness to accept risks and refusal to countenance compromise was echoed in Vienna, and is palpable in the general fear of losing status, as Sean McMeekin wrote:
To some extent, the perception that one was losing ground was chronic in the classical era of great power diplomacy, when crises were usually evaluated in zero-sum terms. Diplomats everywhere were supremely sensitive to the slightest slip in their country’s status, which might imply a victory for rival diplomats (even if these rivals believed themselves to have lost).[footnoteRef:25] [25:  Ibid, p. 11.] 

As Sazonov internalised these lessons, his French ally became increasingly active. Amidst the conversations with the Russians regarding the Liman von Sanders crisis, it was agreed that the French President would come to St Petersburg for a state visit – a decision which later had dramatic implications for the development of Austria’s demarche against Serbia. But if Sazonov had cause for complaint against Paris, this did not mean the French were inactive in the months before the war. Intermittent crises had a way of reminding the French of their painful past. The German occupation of Alsace Lorraine was the main guarantee against an improvement of Franco-German relations. This did not mean that the relationship was always one of straightforward hostility, but it did suggest that any public reminders of the occupation could easily awaken hostilities, increasing tensions.[footnoteRef:26]  [26:  Jens-Uwe Guettel, ‘"Between Us and the French There Are No Profound Differences": Colonialism and the Possibilities of a Franco-German Rapprochement before 1914,’ Historical Reflections, 40, 1 (SPRING 2014), 29-46.] 

For all the analysis of Germany’s colonial ventures, Alsace Lorraine was Germany’s most egregious failed imperial project. Germanisation of the provinces by 1914 meant that the 1.8 million inhabitants there contained 400,000 Germans. French emigration from the provinces continued in line with this; by some estimates half a million Frenchmen had left Alsace Lorraine by 1914; 22,000 young men left in the decade before the war to join the French Foreign Legion. Those French citizens who remained lived in fear of conscription, and the spectacle of fighting against their relatives across the border. Only three Alsatian officers could be found in the German army by 1914, compared to thirty in the French, suggesting that efforts to incorporate the provinces or to engender some form of loyalty to the Kaiser had failed entirely.[footnoteRef:27] The Germans attempted to reduce the volume of French speakers, banning several newspapers, which were forbidden from mentioning the provinces. Schoolchildren could only receive a French education through a special dispensation; meetings of veterans from the 1871 war were disrupted; citizens could be punished for singing the French national anthem in public; emigres were only permitted three trips to the provinces per year; men of military age caught attempting to flee the provinces would be imprisoned and fined; high tariffs were levied on French goods entering the provinces, and inhabitants were thereby compelled to conduct more trade within the German Empire itself.  [27:  C. C. Eckhardt, ‘The Alsace-Lorraine Question,’ Scientific Monthly, 6, 5 (May, 1918), 431-443; 435.] 

These measures were designed to distance the French culture and customs from Alsace Lorraine, yet it only served to deepen hostilities to the regime among those citizens left behind. So long as these tensions simmered in the background, Alsatians and Lorrainers would remain unwilling, but cowed, participants in the German imperial project. However, the resentments could boil over if a crisis served to remind them of how little they mattered in Berlin’s estimations. Just such a crisis emerged in late 1913, in the so-called Zabern Affair.[footnoteRef:28] In the Alsatian town of Zabern, considered among the more Germanified, a young lieutenant Gunter von Forstner offended citizens, refused to apologise, and doubled down on his objectionable behaviour. The inhabitants formed a mob, hurled stones at Forstner’s place of residence, and refused to disperse until the army was called in to restore order. In his study of pre-war Franco-German relations, Michael Nolan described the situation: [28:  Ibid, 437-438.] 

There were ugly scenes between soldiers and civilians, culminating in a series of street clashes in which dozens of civilians, mainly young men, were arrested. It was clear to many even in Germany that the German army had overstepped the bounds ﬁrst of propriety, then of legality. The affair caused a great deal of unrest in Alsace and even threatened to touch off a major constitutional debate in the Reichstag over civilian oversight of the German military.[footnoteRef:29] [29:  Michael Nolan, The Inverted Mirror: Mythologizing the Enemy in France and Germany, 1898–1914 (New York, 2004), p. 83.] 

The French and German press duly took the incident into their hands, and French readers were again reminded of the flagrant injustices of the occupation. The way the Prussian officer classes handled the incident and others which stemmed from it was considered particularly clumsy and brutal. The bungled response was so widely panned – in Germany and in France – that it became the subject of amusement, as news of German soldiers arresting Alsatians for the mere crime of laughing at them spread. The French press contributed to these sentiments; one headline in Le Matin newspaper read: ‘Under the Prussian Heel: The Role of Terror in Zabern: A Child Talks and Is Arrested; A Passerby Laughs and Is Arrested.’ Tongue in cheek though some of the coverage was, French readers interpreted the controversy as proof of the Prussian officer’s lack of humour, stringent pride, and cold authoritarianism. It was also unjust – for the crime of striking a civilian with his sword, Lieutenant Forster was sentenced to only forty days in jail, the bare minimum sentence. As one contemporary journal recorded:
The German government did nothing to show that the military had been in the wrong; the protests in the Reichstag were unheeded. The whole affair indicated that the Prussian military government was absolutely dominant, that the civil population in all Germany had no rights as against the military, and it indicated especially that there was not the least inclination on the part of the imperial government to show a conciliating attitude toward the Alsatians. Whatever the German government had succeeded in achieving in the way of placating the conquered provinces was undone in a few weeks by the Zabern affair.[footnoteRef:30] [30:  Eckhardt, ‘The Alsace-Lorraine Question,’ 438.] 

Jules Cambon, the French ambassador to Berlin – brother of Paul Cambon, the ambassador in London – provided an impression of how the incident was received, and what it all might mean. He wrote to French Foreign Minister Stephan Pichon on 24 November 1913:
It is clear that in this present situation we must be very careful. I wondered, when I saw the Zabern affair come to light, if the Pan Germans were not behind it and were trying to provoke us… There is obviously discord between the civilian and the military sections of the government. We have only one way to bring agreement between them, against us, and that is for us to lose our temper. That is why it is important that we do no lose the calm that we have shown in France until now. I am convinced that Lieutenant Forster’s career is over, but in order for his punishment to be severe, it will not be immediate… It is possible that the affair will reach the Reichstag. The chancellor’s situation is difficult. The conservatives accuse him notably in this Zabern affair, of having let go of the government’s reins. Others ask if there is a military government acting alongside and within a civilian government. Deep down, there is some truth in this.[footnoteRef:31] [31:  24 November 1913, Jules Cambon to Stephan Pichon in Mombauer, Documents, pp. 106-107.] 

As Cambon discerned, the incident posed a challenge to Bethmann Hollweg’s ministry, since it suggested that the civilian government lacked any semblance of control over the soldiers. In a Reichstag increasingly populated with Social Democrats, the Chancellor felt constrained, and was highly sensitive to new signs of domestic criticism. Yet, although the Reichstag was elected by universal male suffrage, the institutions themselves were far from democratic. This was demonstrated on 4 December 1913, when the German Chancellor lost a vote of no confidence, yet refused to step down. It was a reminder that the constitution Bismarck had created established the position of Chancellor as dependent fundamentally on the mood of the Kaiser, rather than the people. Wilhelm supported his Chancellor, and the Zabern affair was allowed to drift into the background, where it was eventually left in the rear view by the new year. 
This bitter French experience of German occupation could only have reinforced hostilities between the two powers, but the French could at least feel confident in the growth of their Russian ally. Following the negotiations of several loans, in 1906, 1909 and 1913, Russian military infrastructure was improved, and Russia’s military capacity increased with it. This process was by no means painless. The Franco-Russian alliance had gone through several phases since its inception. In the aftermath of the loss to Japan, the initiative and leverage swung in favour of Paris. The historian D. W. Spring discerned that France harnessed these advantages in finance to press for greater commitments in railway construction and military reforms. Of equal significance, the French compelled Russia to reorientate its foreign policy, away from a more nuanced policy which still held Germany as a potential partner, to a more restricted vision where Germany was the enemy, and France the only friend. This had an important psychological impact on Russian officials, as D. W. Spring explained:
The Russian ruling elements were sensitive to slights to Russia's dignity, to limitations on their freedom of movement, to the fact that whether Russia was 'catching up' or not she was economically not in the same league as Britain, France and Germany and was not able to play the same economic games beyond her borders. Their sensitivity was increased by their perception of the series of diplomatic defeats and humiliations Russia had suffered, from the Berlin Congress, through the Russo-Japanese war, Bosnian crisis, breakdown of the Balkan alliance, and Liman von Sanders episode. In these perceptions of the Russian ruling elements the financial relationship with France with its implications of dependence was only one factor in a larger picture of Russia's international status which they found galling, but to which there was no satisfactory alternative.[footnoteRef:32] [32:  D. W. Spring, ‘Russia and the Franco-Russian Alliance, 1905-14: Dependence or Interdependence?,’ Slavonic and East European Review, 66, 4 (Oct., 1988), 564-592; 591-592.] 

Spring did not go as far as to class the Franco-Russian relationship as one of Russian dependence on France, but he noted that by 1914, the relationship was still far from equal. That St Petersburg had little choice in the matter was made plain by Germany’s repeated insults to her, which reduced options. The Russians perceived that they had no alternative to the French alliance, and that its limited horizons could only be expanded with a corresponding expansion of its power. It was within France’s interest to further these goals. To rebuild its ally, French statesmen arranged a varied program which was designed to both increase Russian military strength and to reduce Russian mobilisation time in the event of war. The French were far from selfless in these negotiations; they continued to press Russia to use French technology, French banks, French consortiums in railway construction, even when German options were cheaper, more familiar in St Petersburg, and preferred by Russian officials. These teething problems notwithstanding, it may be argued that France had done a remarkable job; its ally was on its way to becoming a formidable opponent.[footnoteRef:33] [33:  Ibid, 592.] 

In fact, concern was growing in some quarters that the French were arguably too successful. In the German estimation, the Russian challenge was close to insurmountable. The spectacle of a Russian colossus drawing on endless reserves of men presented a nightmare scenario in Berlin, and for the British, Russia’s apparent recovery was also a mixed blessing. The departure of Kokovstov meant that the Tsar’s purse strings might not be so jealously guarded, but it also signalled the beginning of a more assertive, uncompromising Russian policy, led by Sazonov. Russian increases technically boded well for British strategic interests, but they simultaneously made the Russian friendship more valuable, and exacerbated fears of a Russia empowered to pursue an independent policy at Britain’s expense. The only solution to this dilemma was to increase cooperation on the Anglo-Russian side. On 18 March 1914, British ambassador Sir George Buchanan wrote of his impressions of Russian strength and how they affected Germany:
The temporary advantages, which Germany has secured by her Army Bill of last year, will in a few years time be eclipsed by the counter measures which Russia has been obliged to take in self-defence. By the year 1917 she will have increased by some 460,000 men the peace time strength of her army, while she will possess a fleet in the Baltic, which, though not very formidable in itself, will nevertheless prove a thorn in the side of Germany, should that country be at war with England. Unless therefore Germany is prepared to make still further financial sacrifices for military purposes, the days of her hegemony in Europe will be numbered; as, even without the cooperation of England, Russia and France combined will then be strong enough to confront the united forces of the Triple Alliance. There are, however, still three critical years to pass before that result in achieved. In the race for armaments Russia has more staying powers than Germany; and, as Germany is aware of that fact, there is always the danger that she may be tempted to precipitate a conflict before Russia is fully prepared to meet it. During these crucial years, therefore, Russia will stand in need of our support and, should we fail to give it when she appeals for it, England will no longer be numbered among her friends.[footnoteRef:34] [34:  18 March 1914, Buchanan to Grey in Mombauer, Documents, p. 118.] 

Buchanan was sufficiently impressed with his calculations that he wrote to Arthur Nicolson the same day on 18 March 1914. The ambassador’s focus was on Germany’s reaction to the growing Russian threat:
The question of absorbing interest is what will she do? Will she bring in another army bill? If she does, Russia will go one better; and in this race for armaments she can always outdistance Germany. Russia is conscious of her latent strength and is determined to use it. She is and will, I believe, remain thoroughly pacific, but she has had enough of the weakness and vacillation which marked her policy during last year’s crisis. She is also, perhaps, aware that she cannot count on our armed support in all eventualities, and she may wish to be strong enough to act independently of us. Can Germany afford to wait till Russia becomes the dominant factor in Europe or will she strike while victory is still within her grasp? I will not attempt to answer this question but the danger and the temptation are both there. Till she has completed her armaments, Russia will have need of our support; and her eventual attitude towards us will depend on whether we stand firmly by her in any crisis which may arise during the intervening years.[footnoteRef:35] [35:  18 March 1914, Buchanan to Nicolson in Ibid, p. 119.] 

These efforts to anticipate Russian intentions, and to judge her past humiliations as the inspiration for further improvements, capture a prevailing theme. Russia was strong now, but would be unbeatable in the future; Germany understood this, and might take advantage. It is perhaps easier to understand the claim that Germany launched a pre-emptive war in anticipation of Russian strength when we read these extracts. Yet, as our July Crisis coverage will demonstrate, matters were not so straightforward. The Russian threat did not compel Berlin to declare war, but it did reduce caution among German officials who interpreted certain risks as acceptable where they might bring about a war with Russia now that would be unwinnable in a few years. The Austro-German expectation in summer 1914 – that Russia would not fight, and Austria could have its localised war with Serbia – does conflict with this appreciation of Russian strength. But twinned to this recognition of power was a corresponding failure to appreciate the impact this would have on the Russian psyche. 
The departure of Kokovstov in January 1914, for instance, should have been interpreted as a new direction in Russian policy, and a signal that Russian financial policy would become more cooperative towards the military, but Berlin failed to appreciate the significance of this personnel change. The British and French struggled in this respect too; rumours swirled that a pro-German or conservative anti-war cabinet would emerge, and the opacity of the Russian system did not lend itself to clarity.[footnoteRef:36] We should also bear in mind Berlin’s prioritisation of Vienna in these calculations, and we are again drawn to the fact that, by summer 1914, both Austria-Hungary and Russia were under the impression that they had backed down too often, displayed weakness too publicly, and would require a policy of firmness and boldness to maintain their status as great powers.  [36:  Clark, Sleepwalkers, pp. 417-418.] 

It now seemed as if Russia would have the means to conduct such a policy very soon. On 24 March 1914, Colonel Knox, British military attaché in St Petersburg, sent an in-depth memorandum on Russian military power back to London. The memo presented a broad sweep of Russia’s military progress, and its implications for Germany. Colonel Knox noted that per the new army increases, Russia could add ‘150,000 men to their annual contingent without difficulty,’ this was in addition to new divisions in the Caucasus, 26 new cavalry regiments, new artillery units, and an increase in the term of service. These improvements removed a long-standing weakness of the Russian army, where during the winter the older contingent would be dismissed, and the replacements were not fully trained for four months. This had meant Russia’s army was only at two thirds of its strength for a critical few months of each year; the reforms fixed this deficiency, as it overlapped the training of new contingents with the dismissal of older ones. Colonel Knox discerned that such changes made it possible that Russia would possess over two million men in arms by April 1917. Knox was also complimentary when considering the Russian soldiers themselves:
The raw material is excellent, the training is good and improving very rapidly, and an immense improvement has been made in the officer, which was formerly the weakest point. The chief defects which remain are the lack of initiative inherent in the Russian character, the doubt as to whether the organisation of the rear services, which is never practiced in peace, can possibly be efficient in war, and the question of whether the right leader can be found for an army which needs special handling.
General Sir Henry Wilson, Britain’s Director of Military Operations and the recipient of this memo from Colonel Knox in St Petersburg, commented in the margins on ‘a most interesting despatch.’ From the memo, Wilson discerned, ‘it is easy to understand now why Germany is anxious about the future and why she may think that it is a case of “now or never.”’[footnoteRef:37] Wilson’s also wished to determine whether a Russian military contribution would be sufficient to reduce Germany’s offensive capabilities in the west. Increasing pressure on multiple fronts to pull on Berlin’s attentions was one method for reducing the wartime endurance of the German army. In these calculations, Wilson believed that Russia needed to be strong enough to reduce German capacity, but not so strong that Britain’s contribution appeared superfluous. This shift in thinking – from seeing Russia as a rudimentary but necessary blunt instrument which could absorb German assaults, to including Russia within sophisticated offensive plans to compromise the Schlieffen Plan – was incredibly significant. It was not a solely British consideration; the French were keenly interested in tracing the development of Russian military capacity. Only by June 1914, when Russia’s Great Program was introduced, did the prospect of coordinated offensive plans within the Entente seem possible. And even then, there was some way to go before the anticipated improvements to the Russian army were felt.  [37:  See 27 March 1914, Colonel Knox’s Memorandum for Henry Wilson in Mombauer, Documents, pp. 120-122.] 

The shift in perspective occurred in Russia, and by 1914 it was better appreciated that the interests of Russia recommended an offensive into Germany. If France should fall, Russia would be forced to contend with a united Austro-German front on its own, and the best way to prevent this nightmare scenario was to guarantee French defensive integrity. These updated appraisals of Russian military planning were wedded to the growing popularity of the offensive, to an extent that historians have referred to a ‘cult’ or ‘ideology’ of the offensive before the First World War.[footnoteRef:38] Even by 1913, General Joffre was not entirely optimistic that Russia had what it took to ensure French defensive security; only the announcement of the Great Program adjusted these estimations. Maurice Paleologue, French ambassador to Russia from early 1914, contributed to this more positive reassessment of Russia’s abilities. ‘In this huge army,’ Paleologue wrote in May 1914, ‘discipline is excellent.’ The regime was still able to ‘drown the revolutionary forces in blood.’ On the question of Russia's ability to mobilize and implement her war plan, Paleologue had no doubts: ‘In order for the alliance to be effective, we need a powerful Russia. And, I think I can certify that she is powerful ... in her own manner.’[footnoteRef:39] [38:  For more on this cult of the offensive see Stephen Van Evera, ‘The Cult of the Offensive and the Origins of the First World War,’ International Security, 9, 1 (Summer, 1984), 58-107; Jack Snyder, ‘Civil-Military Relations and the Cult of the Offensive, 1914 and 1984,’ International Security, 9, 1 (Summer, 1984), 108-146.]  [39:  See William C. Wohlforth, ‘The Perception of Power: Russia in the Pre-1914 Balance,’ World Politics, 39, 3 (Apr., 1987), 353-381; 358-360.] 

Alongside more optimistic assessments of Russian power came less favourable impressions of Austrian power. To Sir Arthur Nicolson, permanent undersecretary at the Foreign Office, accounts of a conversations which ambassador Goschen had had with Jagow in Berlin made for fascinating reading. These frank expressions from the German Foreign Minister suggested that Austria was on the verge of collapse, and German strategic options were shrinking in the face of Russia’s expansion. Nicolson summarised this conversation in his telegram to the ambassador in Vienna on 30 March 1914:
Jagow said to Goschen that there was one matter which caused him far more anxiety than the dissolution of the Ottoman Empire, and that was the future of the Dual Monarchy. He hated to say it or think it, but he could not unpack his mind of the fear that it was a race between the two Empires which would go to pieces first. Goschen said that he was not one of those who believed that the Dual Monarchy would necessarily break up the moment the aged Emperor passed away. Jagow replied that it was not the change of rulers that he had so much in mind, though in a crumbling edifice like the Dual Monarchy a change from a sovereign popular and picturesque to an unpopular one was certainly a matter for some misgiving. What troubled him much more was the want of cohesion in the Monarchy which was becoming more marked every day… When one came to think of it, it was almost chaos, and Jagow could not help sometimes appraising the alliance value of a country in such a state.
While we know that this pessimistic assessment of Austrian power moved Germany to support her ally more wholeheartedly – seen in the blank cheque granted four months later – Goschen was struck by the alternative possibility that this could compel Germany to cut its losses in Vienna, and turn to a Russian friendship instead. This could in turn move Russia to abandon its French alliance in favour of a German partnership more suited to its interests and more aligned with its political institutions. As Nicolson recorded:
I do not mean that next week we shall hear that Russia has denounced her alliance with France or that she has broken off abruptly her understanding with us, but as events develop in this country and in France I do think the tendency in Russia will become more and more marked towards a friendly understanding with Berlin. One of the chief obstacles to this friendly understanding in recent times has been the strong support which Germany has always accorded to the aims and objects of Austria, but if it be true that Germany is now beginning to doubt the value of her alliance with Austria and is disposed to treat it as of little account, indeed perhaps as an encumbrance, I think it is extremely probable that before very long we shall witness fresh developments and new groupings in the European political situation.[footnoteRef:40] [40:  30 March 1914, Nicolson to de Bunsen in Mombauer, Documents, pp. 122-124.] 

These accounts testify to the potential fluidity of the bloc system by 1914. The high estimation of Russian military power facilitated equally optimistic assessments of Russia’s diplomatic options. These options, in the British estimation, were growing in number, as Britain’s need for a Russian partnership also grew. There was thus a threat that the comfortable consensus created by the 1907 Anglo-Russian convention might be ruptured, should Russia leave the Entente and join with Germany. Under these circumstances, perhaps, an abandoned Austria-Hungary would become a new ally of France and Britain, though this would entail serious additional strategic complications. At the same time, Sir Edward Grey was advised that Britain could not hover between the two camps indefinitely; at some point she would have to choose. As the British ambassador to Berlin, Goschen, put it in late April, ‘I doubt, no I am sure, we cannot have it both ways, i.e. form a defensive alliance with France and Russia and at the same time be on cordial terms with Germany.’[footnoteRef:41] Russia, Sazonov intimated, was wearying at the shortcomings of the Triple Entente. If it could not be transformed into an alliance, protecting Russian interests, she might have to look for these guarantees elsewhere. [41:  24 April 1914, Goschen to Nicolson in Ibid, p. 128.] 


